Counting down the weeks: Attachment, Savouring, Relationship Satisfaction and Subjective Wellbeing for members of Fly-in Fly-out Relationships

Nanette M. Allen

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the Honours Degree of Bachelor of

Psychological Science

School of Psychology

The University of Adelaide, South Australia

March 2021

Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	10
1.1. Overview	10
1.2. FIFO Work Model	11
1.2.1. FIFO Work Model and Subjective Wellbeing	12
1.2.2. FIFO work model and relational wellbeing	13
1.3. Adult Attachment	14
1.3.1. Attachment, Long-distance Relationship Satisfaction, and Loneliness	16
1.3.2. Attachment and Subjective Wellbeing	17
1.4. Savouring	18
1.4.1. Savouring, Relationship Satisfaction and Loneliness	19
1.5. Savouring and Attachment	19
1.6. Current Study	20
1.6.1. Justification	20
1.6.2. Current Study Direction	21
1.7. Aims and Hypotheses	21
Chapter 2: METHOD	23
2.1. Participants	23
2.2. Procedure	25
2.3. Measures	26
2.3.1. Adult Attachment	26
2.3.2. Savouring	26
2.3.3. Relationship Satisfaction	26
2.3.4. Loneliness	27

2.3.5. Subjective Wellbeing – Positive and Negative Affect	27
2.3.6. Subjective Wellbeing - Satisfaction with Life	28
Chapter 3: RESULTS	29
3.1. Quantitative Data Analyses	29
3.1.1. Data Screening and Power Analysis	29
3.2. Interrelationships between Attachment, Savouring and Outcome Variables	31
3.2.1. Attachment, Relationship Satisfaction, Loneliness and Subjective Wellbeing	31
3.2.2. Savouring, Relationship Satisfaction, Loneliness and Subjective Wellbeing	32
3.3. Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression	32
3.3.1. Predictor Variables - Attachment-Related Anxiety and Savouring	33
3.3.2. Predictor Variables - Avoidant Attachment and Savouring	35
3.3.3. Predictor Variables - Anxious and Avoidant Attachment, and Savouring	36
	20
Chapter 4: DISCUSSION	39
Chapter 4: DISCUSSION 4.1. Overview	39 39
4.1. Overview	39
4.1. Overview4.2. Attachment, Savouring and Relationship Satisfaction	39 39
 4.1. Overview 4.2. Attachment, Savouring and Relationship Satisfaction 4.3. Attachment, Savouring and Loneliness 	39 39 40
 4.1. Overview 4.2. Attachment, Savouring and Relationship Satisfaction 4.3. Attachment, Savouring and Loneliness 4.4. Attachment, Savouring and Subjective Wellbeing 	39 39 40 41
 4.1. Overview 4.2. Attachment, Savouring and Relationship Satisfaction 4.3. Attachment, Savouring and Loneliness 4.4. Attachment, Savouring and Subjective Wellbeing 4.4.1. Positive Affect 	39 39 40 41 <i>41</i>
 4.1. Overview 4.2. Attachment, Savouring and Relationship Satisfaction 4.3. Attachment, Savouring and Loneliness 4.4. Attachment, Savouring and Subjective Wellbeing 4.4.1. Positive Affect 4.4.2. Negative Affect 	39 39 40 41 41 42
 4.1. Overview 4.2. Attachment, Savouring and Relationship Satisfaction 4.3. Attachment, Savouring and Loneliness 4.4. Attachment, Savouring and Subjective Wellbeing 4.4.1. Positive Affect 4.4.2. Negative Affect 4.4.3. Satisfaction with Life (SWL) 	39 39 40 41 41 42 43
 4.1. Overview 4.2. Attachment, Savouring and Relationship Satisfaction 4.3. Attachment, Savouring and Loneliness 4.4. Attachment, Savouring and Subjective Wellbeing 4.4.1. Positive Affect 4.4.2. Negative Affect 4.4.3. Satisfaction with Life (SWL) 4.5. Summary of Findings 	39 40 41 41 42 43
 4.1. Overview 4.2. Attachment, Savouring and Relationship Satisfaction 4.3. Attachment, Savouring and Loneliness 4.4. Attachment, Savouring and Subjective Wellbeing 4.4.1. Positive Affect 4.4.2. Negative Affect 4.4.3. Satisfaction with Life (SWL) 4.5. Summary of Findings 4.6. Strengths and limitations 	39 40 41 41 42 43 43
 4.1. Overview 4.2. Attachment, Savouring and Relationship Satisfaction 4.3. Attachment, Savouring and Loneliness 4.4. Attachment, Savouring and Subjective Wellbeing 4.4.1. Positive Affect 4.4.2. Negative Affect 4.4.3. Satisfaction with Life (SWL) 4.5. Summary of Findings 4.6. Strengths and limitations 4.7. Future Research 	39 40 41 41 42 43 43 44

List of Tables

Table 1a	Characteristics of participants
Table 1b	Employment characteristics of participants
Table 2	Descriptive statistics for each variable, and Cronbach's Alpha of Scales
Table 3	Pearson's bivariate correlations of study variables.
Table 4	Results of hierarchical regression with attachment-anxiety and savouring as predictor variables.
Table 5	Results of hierarchical regression with avoidant attachment and savouring as predictor variables.
Table 6	Results of hierarchical regression with anxious and avoidant attachment and savouring as predictor variables.

Appendices

Appendix 1 Survey Instruments

Abstract

Research into mental health and wellbeing in the Fly-in Fly-out (FIFO) sector has predominantly focused on demographic and work-related factors, but there is little empirical evidence on individual difference or underlying psychological factors. Furthermore, while the benefits of close relationships to foster psychological and physical wellbeing are well documented, there are few quantitative studies of FIFO relationships. Savouring, the ability to upregulate positive emotions, has been linked to promoting positive affect, relationship quality and buffering negative effects of stress.

The aim of this study is to take a preliminary look at some of the key psychological factors that have been applied in the broader area of long-distance relationship research, to investigate their relevance to FIFO relationships. This study examines six, relational and subjective wellbeing variables, within the guiding theoretical framework of attachment. Furthermore, the study investigates the relationship of savouring to these outcomes, both independently and in relation to attachment-related anxiety and avoidant attachment.

Hierarchical multiple regression analyses showed that attachment-anxiety is strongly associated with all relational and subjective wellbeing outcomes, while avoidant attachment, once attachment-anxiety was accounted for, was only associated with relationship satisfaction and satisfaction with life. Results showed savouring was not associated with relationship satisfaction, after attachment variables were accounted for, but was found to have a significant relationship with loneliness and subjective wellbeing outcomes.

Declaration

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any University, and, to the best of my knowledge, this thesis contains no material previously published except where due reference is made. I give permission for the digital version of this thesis to be made available on the web, via the University of Adelaide's digital thesis repository, the Library Search and through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the School to restrict access for a period of time.

Acknowledgements

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my supervisor, Dr Lynn Ward, for her guidance and support throughout the year. I am also grateful to the course co-ordinators and the university, who provided support through the unprecedented challenges brought about by Covid.

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to the organisations and individuals who assisted in promoting my project. I am also very thankful to all the members of FIFO relationships who took the time to participate in my research study. It was your words of missing and togetherness, challenges and support, that inspired and motivated me throughout the year.

To my two beautiful children, while it has been tough to sacrifice time together, I hope you will one day understand the value of such research and be proud that your mum was able to contribute to it. Your continued joy, happiness, and love have been my foundation, and that happiness reflects the three amazing au pairs, Danovanh, Marion and Sara, who joined our family during this time. I cannot thank you enough for everything you have done for our family during this time. Special thanks to Danovanh, who was with us through 'iso', and who created new things every day to entertain the children, and helped keep my sanity through lockdown.

Last, but by no means least, to my university friends Alice, Elise, Say and Allison, who got me through to honours in the first place, and who, along with Desiree, Sue and Lisa were my back stops, providing functional support and pep talks along the way. And, to my extended family and friends, thank you for your ongoing love and moral support.

I will always be appreciative of these special people in my life.

Contribution Block

In writing this thesis, my supervisor identified that savouring is an emerging area of research, the benefits of which had been shown for isolated groups dealing with loneliness, relationship satisfaction, and subjective wellbeing. Following a literature search, I identified attachment style and long-distance relationships as an area of interest relating to relationship satisfaction. Having previously worked in the Fly in Fly out sector, I proposed that this would be a particularly unique and interesting group to apply this research to. My supervisor and I collaborated to generate research questions of interest. I conducted the literature search, completed the ethics application, and wrote the qualtrics survey. I was responsible for all participant recruitment and data collection, data analyses and thesis write-up.

Even though, with age, adults develop the ability to gain comfort from internal and symbolic representations of attachment figures, no one is completely free from reliance of actual others.

- John Bowlby, Attachment

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Overview

Fly-in fly-out (FIFO) is a prevalent work arrangement in the Australian resource sector, as most mining operations are located in remote parts of the country (Wilson et al., 2020). Despite several perceived benefits of employment in this sector (including higher than average income (ABS, 2020) and large blocks of time off), this unique style of employment exposes the FIFO workforce and their families to a wide range of stressors, with recognised risks for mental health and relational and subjective wellbeing (Meredith et al., 2014; Parker et al., 2018). Research has shown that there are both demographic and work-related factors that can increase the risk of anxiety, depression, relationship strain, loneliness, and maladaptive coping styles (James et al., 2018; Tuck et al., 2013). For FIFO couples, the work schedule produces a regular physical separation and a sense of living in a "bifurcate world" that can create challenges for the worker and their partner (Lester et al., 2016, p. 3620; Parker et al., 2018).

Despite the known challenges faced by FIFO couples, research on FIFO relationships and associated wellbeing outcomes has remained predominantly underdeveloped and atheoretical (House of Representatives Standing Committee Regional Australia, 2013). Given that stable intimate relationships can foster psychological and physical wellbeing (Diamond et al., 2008), it is important that further theoretically based research into this aspect of the FIFO population is conducted.

Broader research on long-distance relationships (LDR) has conceptualised the separation-reunion cycle of long-distance couples from the theoretical perspective of adult attachment (Diamond et al., 2008; Pistole, 2010). Utilising an adult attachment (Ainsworth, 1967; Bowlby, 1969) framework to contextualise FIFO relationships, this study seeks to

examine whether attachment can provide insight into relationship satisfaction and subjective wellbeing outcomes of members of FIFO couples.

An emerging field of research has identified that savouring, the ability to generate, enhance and prolong positive experiences from positive events, "can upregulate positive emotions and influence positive psychological outcomes" (Bryant & Veroff, 2007; Samios & Khatri, 2019, p. 119). As a coping response, savouring has been found to have benefits for emotionally isolated groups, improving relational and subjective wellbeing (Smith & Hollinger-Smith, 2015). Investigating savouring, within the theoretical framework of attachment, may provide a new and broader understanding of the internal resources that members of FIFO relationships could employ to support and promote relationship satisfaction, happiness and satisfaction with life (Lenger & Gordon, 2019). In turn, this may provide a better understanding of the underlying psychological factors that impact FIFO relationships, leading to a more holistic approach to mental health support in the resource sector.

1.2. FIFO Work Model

The FIFO employment model typically means 12-hour day/night shifts, low-autonomy, repetitive work (Bailey-Kruger, 2012; Wilson et al., 2020) and rosters that generally see workers spend half to three quarters of their time on-site, away from their partners, family and social networks (Peetz et al., 2012). International research suggests that working away from the family unit can lead to family identity issues and conflict over work and family roles, and can negatively impact on relationships, all of which can increase stress and other mental health problems, not only for FIFO workers (workers), but also for their partners (Henry et al., 2013; Shrimpton & Storey, 2021).

1.2.1. FIFO Work Model and Subjective Wellbeing

There are few quantitative studies that have specifically assessed subjective wellbeing in the FIFO population. Wellbeing is the experience of physical and mental health, happiness and prosperity and is often assessed in terms of an eudaimonic perspective, which reflects, amongst other things, an individual's view of close relationships or from a hedonic perspective, being an individual's subjective assessment of their feelings and emotions (affect), and cognitive perception of their overall satisfaction with life (i.e. subjective wellbeing).

The potentially detrimental impact of FIFO work on the mental health and wellbeing of workers has been examined largely through qualitative research, which has identified a number of work-related stressors that impact on mental health and wellbeing. Stressors include the trade-off between financial constraints and job satisfaction, difficulties in adjusting between work and home life and common feelings of isolation and loneliness (Gardner et al., 2018; Torkington et al., 2011).

The limited quantitative studies utilising psychometrically valid instruments to assess wellbeing in the FIFO population show mixed results, with some studies finding workers reported stress levels within measure norms (Kirsch et al., 2013), whereas others showed workers experienced mild anxiety and moderate depression (Tuck et al., 2013). One large-scale Australian study, comprising 1124 participants, found 28% of workers had high to very high psychological distress compared to just 10.8% in the general Australian population, and overall had significantly lower levels of emotional wellbeing than the norm group (Parker et al., 2018). These poorer outcomes, in part, are likely to reflect the demographic features of the FIFO workforce (predominantly male, 24 to 45 years, in labour roles), which mirror the features of groups within society found to have an increased risk of mental health issues and suicide (ABS, 2012; Parker et al., 2018).

Mixed findings were also found in the handful of studies investigating partner mental health. FIFO partners were found to be more stressed, depressed or anxious than non-FIFO partners (Dittman et al., 2016), FIFO workers (Clifford, 2009) and Australian normative ranges (Parker et al., 2018), yet Parker et al. (2018) concluded that while partners experienced high levels of psychological distress, they had comparable emotional wellbeing with the norm group. To date, these mixed results have been left largely unexplained.

1.2.2. FIFO work model and relational wellbeing

Relationship satisfaction, defined as a partner's subjective and global evaluation of the positivity of feelings toward one's partner and attraction to the relationship (Funk & Rogge, 2007), is considered to be one of the strongest predictors of both relationship stability and individual psychophysical health and subjective wellbeing (Raffagnino & Matera, 2015). Research has challenged assumptions regarding FIFO and LDR relationships, with some studies indicating divorce rates and satisfaction levels that are comparable to the general population (Diamond, 2019; Dittman et al., 2016). In contrast, Gent (2004) found lower overall relationship satisfaction than scale norms. Similar inconsistencies concerning relationship satisfaction and stability have been seen in the broader LDR literature (Dargie et al., 2015)

Loneliness is the cognitive experience resulting from a discrepancy between one's desired and actual level of social interaction (Perlman et al., 1984). It can be an unpleasant and distressing emotional experience that can vary in frequency and intensity and may be due to an absence of attachment and close romantic relationships (Knoke et al., 2010). Loneliness has been consistently found to be associated with depression, decreased sleep efficiency (Wilson et al., 2020), reduced life satisfaction as well as objective health risk factors (Knoke et al., 2010; Russell et al., 1980).

Qualitative studies highlight that both FIFO workers and partners report feeling isolated and lonely (Shrimpton & Storey, 2021; Torkington et al., 2011). As with wellbeing, there are few quantitative studies investigating loneliness in the FIFO population. Tuck et al. (2013) found 43.4% of workers reported moderate loneliness, and that high loneliness and low social satisfaction and relatedness was strongly associated with psychological distress. A recent study of FIFO partners by Wilson et al. (2020) found 84% of participants experienced moderate to extreme loneliness when their partner was away, compared to 56% when the partner was at home.

The paucity of studies into FIFO couples means that there is little conclusive evidence to draw on, to evaluate the impact of the FIFO lifestyle on relational wellbeing, identifying a significant gap in the FIFO literature, which calls for further theoretically based research.

1.3. Adult Attachment

Attachment theory (Ainsworth, 1967; Bowlby, 1969) is a leading theoretical approach used to interpret interpersonal behaviour and the quality of close relationships (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). Individual differences in self-concept and attachment style provides a useful tool to predict the impact of planned relational separations in LDRs (Borelli et al., 2014) and to explain the adaptive or maladaptive strategies employed by partners to restore proximity and maintain relationship quality.

Adult attachment reflects the quality of early childhood relationships and experiences, which shape an individual's cognitive affect schema, or internal "working model" (IWM) about close relationships (Bowlby, 1982). A secure IWM develops when an infant learns that their attachment needs will be met when their primary carer is consistently and sensitively responsive to distress cues (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). Infants whose cues are met in an inconsistent way develop a sense that their need for "other" will be rejected, and form an insecure IWM (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). These insecure schemas reflect a child's

perceived low sense of self-worth (self) and, or, a sense of distrust or fear of closeness and availability of attachment figures (others) (Bowlby, 1982). Based on the IWMs of self and others, attachment is conceived along two dimensions, attachment-related anxiety and avoidance. Based on the continuous nature of these two dimensions, attachment orientations are modelled on the level of degrees on each variable, rather than a categorical classification on the basis of participants scores (Roisman et al., 2007).

Secure attachment orientations reflect a low anxious and low avoidant attachment, and characterised by individuals who have positive IWMs of self and other (Griffin & Bartholomew, 1994). Individuals who have a secure attachment orientation can deal with stressors and threats in a constructive way and can trust in and accept comfort and support from others (Nielsen et al., 2017). Insecure attachment orientations reflect a high level on one or both the attachment dimensions, with each characterised by distinct prototypic capacities and strategies that drive an individual's cognitive responses and behaviour (Mikulincer et al., 2002).

An anxious attachment style is characterised by low self-worth, fear of rejection and yet a positive view of others, and reflects high attachment-related anxiety and low avoidant (Griffin & Bartholomew, 1994). These individuals use hyperactivating strategies, such as exaggerating needs and vulnerability, or excessive pleasing or closeness, to gain security and validate their self-worth (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2005).

An avoidant attachment style reflects low anxious and high avoidant attachment orientations and relates to a positive or defensive overinflated IWM of self (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007) and a negative model of others (Griffin & Bartholomew, 1994). To maintain a high sense of self-worth, individuals will deny the value of close relationships and stress the importance of independence (Griffin & Bartholomew, 1994).

A fearful attachment orientation, is characterised by low self-worth and a negative view of others, reflects high levels of both attachment-anxiety and avoidant attachment dimensions (Griffin & Bartholomew, 1994). Individuals with fearful attachment look to others to give them validation to counter low self-worth, but at the same time turn away from forms of intimacy to avoid pain and rejection (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007).

1.3.1. Attachment, Long-distance Relationship Satisfaction, and Loneliness

An individual's IWMs extend across their lifespan and are drawn upon during adult social interactions and romantic relationships. In adult relationships, the role of an attachment figure is a reciprocal one, where each partner coordinates and adjusts behaviour to meet the attachment cues of the other (Pistole, 2010). Without the reciprocity of the adult attachment bond, the members of the relationship are at risk of feeling isolated, with negative affect and low relationship satisfaction (Pistole, 2010).

Research has demonstrated that romantic relationship quality for individuals characterised by secure attachment is greater than for those with insecure attachment orientations (Hazan & Shaver, 1987), and that securely attached individuals are typically comfortable in expressing distress and seeking proximity (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2005). For proximity to be achieved the partner needs to be responsive (Lee & Pistole, 2012), and in such cases both partners are more likely to perceive and trust that their intimacy is adequately reciprocated (Hadden et al., 2014).

Lee and Pistole (2012) demonstrated that insecure attachment reduces relationship satisfaction, and that the effect is greater for those in long distance relationships. The hyperactivated vigilant state of individuals characterised by attachment-anxiety makes them vulnerable during separations such as long distance relationships (Lee & Pistole, 2012), and exacerbates relational behaviours and negative cognitions about self (Pistole, 2010).

Geographical separation means that increased proximity monitoring and rumination on responsiveness cannot be relieved through daily physical contact (Mikulincer et al., 2002).

Borelli et al. (2014) proposed that insecurely attached LDR partners who have high avoidant attachment may be at greatest risk of negative outcomes from separations.

Conversely, Lee and Pistole (2012) proposed that those with an avoidant attachment style may, in part, enjoy the self-reliance of separation within their relationship, which inadvertently may promote positive affect, and downplay negative thoughts of their relationship.

These underlying principles of attachment provide insight into the variations in findings within the FIFO research. For example, based on attachment style, couples who have a secure bond may have higher relationship satisfaction, but separation, for all attachment orientations, may still activate feelings of stress, negative affect and loneliness, until proximity and their secure base is restored (Diamond et al., 2008; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2003).

Loneliness, from an attachment perspective, is a "preeminent separation protest signal" of secure and insecure attachment styles, that reflects the discrepancy between the perceived and desired level of proximity and responsiveness of attachment figures (Pistole, 2010, p. 117). Research has shown that insecure attachment orientations are one of the primary predictors of loneliness (Akdoğan, 2017) with secure attachment associated with lower levels of loneliness (Bernardon et al., 2011).

1.3.2. Attachment and Subjective Wellbeing

Studies support the view that attachment orientations broadly influence individual experiences of positive and negative affect (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007). According to attachment theory (Ainsworth, 1967; Bowlby, 1969), positive (e.g. joy, happiness, contentment) and negative (sadness, loneliness, anger) emotions are normative responses to

proximity related activation and deactivation of the attachment system (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007; Pistole, 2010). Secure attachment has been associated with greater intensity and frequency of positive affect than insecure attachment (Torquati & Raffaelli, 2004).

Individuals characterised by insecure attachment experience more extreme negative affect and exhibit a narrower range of emotions, which is consistent with hyperactivating or deactivation strategies related to their attachment style (Torquati & Raffaelli, 2004).

Empirical evidence also suggests that securely attached individuals report higher life satisfaction while those with anxious or avoidant attachment styles report lower levels of life satisfaction (Koohsar & Bonab, 2011).

1.4. Savouring

Savouring (Bryant, 2003) is the ability to attend to, intensify and prolong positive feelings by bringing one's awareness to, and appreciating, positive experiences (Smith & Bryant, 2016). Positive feelings can be drawn from current experiences (savouring the moment), past experiences (reminiscence) or through the anticipation of future events (anticipation), however, the upregulation of positive feeling (savouring) is generated "in the moment" (Bryant & Veroff, 2007, p. 4). It has been proposed that cultivating one's capacity to savour has a protective effect on psychological adjustment, and can help to alleviate effects of stress (Samios & Khatri, 2019).

Savouring has been shown to behave as an emotion regulation tool that promotes wellbeing and reduces symptoms of distress, including negative mood and depression (Hurley & Kwon, 2012). Savouring promotes subjective wellbeing (Bryant & Veroff, 2007; Philip, 2016) by providing an uplift in positive affect (Hurley & Kwon, 2013) and the dampening of negative affect, and increasing life satisfaction (Hurley & Kwon, 2012; Quoidbach et al., 2010).

Research to date suggests that there are individual differences in the capacity to savour, with women generally exhibiting greater ability to savour than men (Bryant, 2003; Samios & Khatri, 2019). This may be an important factor to consider when investigating populations with a predominantly dominant gender demographic, like FIFO workers, or their partners.

1.4.1. Savouring, Relationship Satisfaction and Loneliness

Until recently relationship science has focused on mitigating negative processes and factors that were detrimental to relationship satisfaction (Lenger & Gordon, 2019). Positive relationship science has started to identify the relevance of positive processes, such as savouring, as a way of promoting relational outcomes (Bryant & Veroff, 2007).

Emerging studies have shown that savouring can benefit relationship satisfaction during times of stress (Samios & Khatri, 2019). Additionally, Lenger and Gordon (2019) found that the component of savouring most relevant to relationship satisfaction was savouring through anticipation. To date savouring hasn't been investigated in FIFO couples, however a theme identified in qualitative studies indicated that planning and anticipating activities with partners for upcoming breaks, was a way to overcome negative feelings and loneliness (Gardner et al., 2018). This suggests prospective savouring could be a coping mechanism employed by FIFO couples, potentially to buffer loneliness. While research into the association between savouring and loneliness is limited, Smith et al. (2019) has demonstrated a link between the two constructs.

1.5. Savouring and Attachment

Correlational research has found an association between attachment styles and savouring, with insecurely attached individuals reporting lower savouring capacity (Goodall, 2015). However, the underlying mechanisms are not well understood. It is proposed that the tendency for individuals with an anxious attachment style to interpret social interactions as

threatening, and their heightened focus on potential threats, may detract from their ability to savour and positive experiences (Palmer & Gentzler, 2018). However, some studies have shown that some coping strategies of anxious and avoidant attachment styles may inadvertently generate a savouring response. For example avoidant strategies of down-regulating negative feelings may unintentionally shift the focus onto positive feelings, and anxiously attached may promote positive experiences in a bid to connect with an attachment figure (Palmer & Gentzler, 2018). Further research is required to better understand the relationship between attachment and savouring.

1.6. Current Study

1.6.1. Justification

Existing research into FIFO workers and partners has clearly shown that this model of employment comes with a range of recognised risks for mental health and relational and subjective wellbeing (Parker et al., 2018). While research has shown the significant benefits of relationships for both physical and mental health outcomes (Pietromonaco & Collins, 2017), very few relational studies have been conducted in the FIFO population, leaving a significant knowledge gap as to how FIFO couples draw on their relationship for support. In addition, while qualitative studies in the FIFO sector commonly find loneliness as an issue identified by workers and partners (Torkington et al., 2011; Voysey, 2012), there is limited quantitative data to support this finding.

To date, support strategies and interventions within the FIFO sector have focused on improving organisational culture and work conditions, but mental health issues continue to be raised as a challenge faced (Henry et al., 2013). It is therefore important to identify other factors that may be impacting wellbeing outcomes(Parker et al., 2018), such as internal psychological characteristics.

From the broader area of long-distance relational science, attachment is considered a key construct to understanding relationship wellbeing, and individual differences in attachment are considered closely related to subjective wellbeing and loneliness (Heffernan et al., 2012). While attachment theory has been applied in relational studies regarding military deployment and other long-distance relationships (Borelli et al., 2014), this theoretical framework has not been utilised in research relating to FIFO couples.

Furthermore, while improvements to site and communication facilities have generated better outcomes for the FIFO community, there is still limited focus on addressing the internal resources that members of FIFO relationships could employ to support and promote wellbeing (Lenger & Gordon, 2019). The area of positive psychology, and in particular savouring, as a potential internal resource to improve positive affect and wellbeing (Bryant & Veroff, 2007), could provide additional information support services that could be integrated into educational and support strategies, to assist FIFO couples who are dealing with FIFO related stressors.

1.6.2. Study Direction

This study will be one of the first to investigate individual differences in attachment, savouring and relationship satisfaction in FIFO couples, and provide a 'first pass look' at how these factors are interrelated and associated with subjective wellbeing. Furthermore, within an attachment framework, the study will investigate to what extent, if any, savouring contributes to relational and subjective wellbeing outcomes, which may provide insight into the value of savouring as an internal resource and coping mechanism.

1.7. Aims and Hypotheses

This study aims to determine whether attachment and savouring are associated with the relational and subjective wellbeing, for members of FIFO relationships. In addition, the study aims to determine to what extent savouring contributes to these outcomes once the influence of attachment is accounted for.

The following hypotheses were tested:

- 1a. Insecure attachment styles (anxious and avoidant) are negatively associated with relationship satisfaction, positive affect and satisfaction with life.
- 1b. Insecure attachment styles (anxious and avoidant) are positively associated with negative affect and loneliness.
- 2a. Savouring is positively associated with relationship satisfaction, positive affect and satisfaction with life.
- 2b. Savouring is negatively associated with loneliness and negative affect.
- 3. Savouring will contribute a significant amount of additional change to relational and subjective wellbeing outcomes after:
 - a. the variance of attachment-related anxiety is accounted for.
 - b. the variance of avoidant attachment is accounted for.
 - c. the combined variance of anxious and avoidant attachment is accounted for.

Chapter 2: METHOD

2.1. Participants

A total of 165 participants were recruited from the Australian resource sector. Participants were required to be over 18 years, in a cohabiting, romantic relationship of a minimum of 6 months duration, and with one person in the relationship working in the resource sector on a FIFO basis. Participants were removed if they did not meet this inclusion criteria (n=1), completed only demographic information, or completed 3 or less of the 6 measures in the survey (n=21). After screening, a total of 143 participants were included of which 112 were partners of FIFO workers and 31 were FIFO workers. Table 1a. and 1b. provides full details of participant demographics and FIFO employment arrangements.

Characteristics of participants (N = 143) including age, gender, highest level of education, self-reported health status, and first language.

	N (%) ^a			
	Partner $(n = 11)$		FIFO Wo $(n = 3)$	
Age, Mean (SD)	37	(8.78)	39	(10.71)
Gender		(69)	31	(34)
Female	110	(98)	13	(42)
Male	1	(1)	17	(55)
Undisclosed	1	(1)	1	(3)
Relationship Status				
Married/De-Facto	95	(85)	26	(84)
Engaged	10	(9)	2	(7)
Dating	7	(6)	3	(10)
Relationship Length				
6 months - 1 year	3	(2.7)	4	(12.9)
2 - 5 years	19	(17)	6	(19.4)
6 - 10 years	21	(18.8)	5	(16.1)

11 - 15 years	30	(26.8)	7	(22.6)
16 - 20 years	18	(16.1)	3	(9.7)
20+ years	21	(18.8)	6	(19.4)
Children, Yes	82	(73.2)	12	(38.7)
Highest level of education				
School Education	19	(17)	2	(6.4)
TAFE/Certificate/Diploma	41	(36.6)	7	(22.6)
University degree	33	(29.5)	7	(22.6)
Postgraduate qualification	19	(17)	15	(48.4)
State of Family Residence ^{b.}				
ACT	6	(5.4)	0	(0)
NSW	7	(6.3)	2	(1.8)
NT	1	(0.09)	1	(0.9)
QLD	27	(24.1)	6	(5.4)
SA	30	(26.8)	7	(6.3)
TAS	4	(3.6)	2	(1.8)
VIC	7	(6.3)	0	(0)
WA	32	(28.6)	9	(8.0)
Overseas	7	(6.3)	4	(3.6)

^a Values are expressed as total n (%), except age which is expressed as Mean (SD)

Table 1b. $Employment\ characteristics\ of\ participants\ (N=143)\ including\ roster\ compression\ and\ years$ within FIFO sector.

	N (%) ^a				
	Partner $(n = 11)$		FIFO Workers $(n = 31)$		
Employment (Partner)					
Full time/Business Owner	39	(38.8)			
Part time/ Casual	35	(31.3)			
Stay at home parent/	28	(25)			

^b Some partner participants have indicated they live in more than one state \therefore n = 121

maternity leave				
Student	6	(5.4)		
Unemployed seeking work	3	(2.7)		
Undisclosed	1	(0.9)		
Employment (FIFO Worker)				
Full time			26	(84.1)
Casual			1	(3.2)
Contractor			3	(9.7)
Consultant			1	(3.2)
FIFO Roster Compression				
Low (equal time on/off)	53	(47.3)	13	(42)
High (> time on)	59	(52.7)	18	(58)
Length of time working FIFOb				
0 - 1 yr	5	(4.5)	1	(3.2)
>1yr - 5 yrs	32	(28.6)	12	(38.7)
> 5 yrs - 10yrs	32	(28.6)	13	(41.9)
10+ yrs	43	(38.4)	5	(16.1)

^a Values are expressed as total n (%)

2.2. Procedure

Participants were recruited Australia wide via resource industry-body websites and newsletters (AusIMM, GSA, AIG), resource and FIFO social media groups (FIFO Family Matters, Miners Promise, GeoHug, Happiness Co) and snowballing via email and social media posts to industry contacts.

Data was collected using an online survey which was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee at the University of Adelaide. Participants provided informed consent before progressing to the survey questions. Participants were asked to identify themselves as either a FIFO worker or FIFO partner at the beginning of the survey. Based on their selection, a tailored partner or worker block of demographic questions was presented

^b Partners responses relate to the years their FIFO partner has worked in FIFO employment.

relating to factors such as relationship status, education, employment, FIFO roster (see Appendix 1 for the full survey). Noting that the survey was conducted during COVID lockdowns, questions were tailored, where relevant, accordingly. Participants completed six standardized self-report measures assessing the variables under investigation (all instruments are included in Appendix 1).

2.3. Measures

2.3.1. Adult Attachment

Attachment was assessed using the Experiences in Close Relationships Questionnaire – Revised (ECR-R) (Fraley et al., 2000), This 36 item measure was scored on a seven point Likert-scale from (1) strongly disagree to (7) strongly agree. The instrument measured romantic attachment along the two dimensions of attachment: anxiety (e.g. "I worry a lot about my relationships") and avoidant (e.g. "I talk things over with my partner") (Fraley et al., 2000). Variation in attachment is best modelled on dimensions (Roisman et al., 2007), with participants who score low on both the anxiety and avoidant dimensions typically categorised as having a secure attachment (Fraley et al., 2000). Psychometric evaluations of the ECR_R have shown it to have good internal reliability for both the attachment-related anxiety (α = .94) and avoidant attachment (of α = .91) dimensions (Sibley et al., 2005).

2.3.2. Savouring

The 24-item Savoring Belief Inventory (SBI) (Bryant, 2003) assessed participants beliefs about their capacity to enjoy positive events through anticipating, savouring the moment, or reminiscing (Bryant, 2003). The 12 were positive items (e.g., "I know how to make the most of a good time") and negative items (e.g., "I don't enjoy things as much as I should") were scored on a 7-point Likert-scale ranging from 1 – strongly agree to 7 – strongly disagree. Internal reliability for this measure is good with Cronbach's α = .94 (Bryant, 2003).

2.3.3. Relationship Satisfaction

Relationship satisfaction was measured using the Couples Satisfaction Index (CSI-16) (Funk & Rogge, 2007). The measure was comprised of one global item using a 7-point Likert-scale ranging from (0) extremely unhappy to (6) perfect and nine statements relating to relationship strength and satisfaction (e.g., "I really feel like part of a team with my partner") rated on a Likert scale ranging from (0) – not at all true to (5) completely true; followed by six items rated on a 5-point spectrum between opposing adjectives, (e.g., "interesting and boring, full and empty). Total CSI-16 scores range from 0 to 81. The CSI has good reliability ($\alpha > 0.9$) and can discriminate between participants who are dissatisfied (scores below 51.5) and satisfied with their relationships (Funk & Rogge, 2007).

2.3.4. Loneliness

The revised UCLA Loneliness Scale (UCLA – R) (Russell et al., 1980) is a measure of an individual's subjective and global view of their feelings of social isolation or sense of loneliness (Russell, 1996). The scale is a 20-item instrument scored on a 4-point Likert-scale from never (1) to often (4). With normative mean scores for males 34.94 (SD 9.49) and for females 35.65 (SD 10.3) (Knight et al., 1988), higher than norm scores reflect greater levels of loneliness (Russell et al., 1980). The UCLA-R has good internal reliability with Cronbach's α = .96 (Russell et al., 1980).

2.3.5. Subjective Wellbeing – Positive and Negative Affect

The 12 item Scale of Positive and Negative Experience (SPANE) (Diener et al., 2009) used six items each to assess positive affect (e.g. happy, contented) and negative affect (e.g. "sad, angry") (Diener et al., 2009). Items were scored on a 5-point Likert scale from (1) very rarely/never to (5) very often/always with positive affect (SPANE-P) and negative affect (SPANE-N) calculated by summing the respective subscale scores to give a range of 6-30 for each (Diener et al., 2009).

The SPANE has good internal reliability with coefficient alpha's for the positive and negative affect scales of .88 and .89 respectively (Jovanović, 2015).

2.3.6. Subjective Wellbeing - Satisfaction with Life

The Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS) (Diener et al., 1985) was included to assesses the cognitive component of subjective wellbeing (Pavot & Diener, 1993a) that is, participants' judgement of their level of satisfaction with their life (e.g., "the conditions of my life are excellent") (Pavot & Diener, 1993b). The SWLS is a 5-item measure using a Likert-scale ranging from strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (7) (Diener 1985). Total scores were calculated by summing all item scores to give a range from 5 to 35. Scores between 20 to 24 indicate an average life satisfaction for populations in economically developed nations (Diener et al., 2009). The SWLS has good internal reliability of score with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.87 (Diener, 1985).

Chapter 3: RESULTS

3.1. Quantitative Data Analyses

Quantitative data analyses were conducted using SPSS Statistics® Version 27.

Pearson's correlation analyses were used to examine the bivariate relationships between variables. In testing hypothesis 3, hierarchical multiple linear regressions (regression) were used to investigate whether savouring contributes a unique amount of influence on the outcome variables, after the variance contributed by the attachment predictors (anxious and attachment) are considered.¹

3.1.1. Data Screening and Power Analysis

Prior to analysis the dataset was screened for missing values, outliers and invalid values.

Using box plots, outliers were detected in 2 of the 6 standardised measures, however these values were retained, as on inspection they were seen to be related to actual individual differences existing in the population.

To determine whether all participants could be included as one group in the analyses, independent t tests were conducted to compare partner and worker responses on each instrument. While significant difference between partners and workers was seen on the avoidant attachment scale t(141) = 2.328 P < .05, there were no significant correlations for the worker avoidant attachment and the other variables, suggesting that the differences between groups is likely a function of a small worker dataset (n=31), rather than real differences between the worker and partner groups. Visual inspection of the scatter plots showed that while the correlations were not of similar magnitude, the pattern of data between partners and workers was similar, and the worker data points all fell within the 95% confidence intervals,

-

¹ In this and following chapters, "significant" should be read as statistically significant.

of the partner group. Based on these results, the partner and worker data were combined for analyses.

Frequencies, descriptive statistics, and Cronbach's alpha for each of the instruments are presented in Table 2. Cronbach's alpha for each measure was greater than the recommended standard of $\alpha > .70$, indicating that the internal consistency reliability for each psychometric measure was acceptable for these analyses (Nunnally, 1978).

The data was screened for normality of the variables by inspection of histograms, quantile-quantile (Q-Q) plots, skewness and kurtosis, and Kolmogorov-Smirnov (K-S) tests. The K-S tests were significant and several of the histograms suggested that some scores deviated from a normal distribution. Indicative of normal distribution the skewness and kurtosis values for most of the measures clustered around zero (Field, 2013). These results, in conjunction with review of Q-Q plots and the 5% trimmed means indicating minimal deviation from the total sum of means scores, suggest the normality assumption was satisfied (Cronk, 2002).

The normality of residuals and non-linearity assumptions for multiple regression analysis were assessed. A visual inspection of histograms of standardised residuals, normal probability-probability plots and relevant scatterplots showed low levels of deviation from normality in all. Scatterplots to assess homoscedasticity of residuals were generally evenly distributed indicating this assumption was met (Baron & Kenny, 1986). Pearson's correlations indicated that all independent variables had significant medium associations with dependent variables (Table 3).

Several demographic covariates were screened for potential correlations with outcome variables but were confirmed to have minimal effect on model outcomes and thus were not included in regression models.

An a priori power analysis (G*Power software package) confirmed that the study sample size (n=131) was sufficient to detect an effect size > 0.1, with power of .80 and $\alpha = .05$, for regression with four predictors (Faul, 1992).

Table 2

Descriptive statistics for each variable, and Cronbach's Alpha of Scales

				Score	e Range	
Measure	n	Mean	SD	Actual	Possible	α
Attachment (ECR-R)						
Attachment-anxiety	143	2.74	1.271	1-6	1-7	0.94
Avoidant Attachment	143	2.51	1.017	1-5	1-7	0.92
Savouring (SBI)	143	5.33	0.957	3-7	1-7	0.95
Relational Wellbeing						
Relationship Satisfaction (CSI-16)	143	60.99	16.912	3-81	0-81	0.97
Loneliness (UCLA)	131	41.5	12.536	21-74	20-80	0.94
Subjective Wellbeing						
Affect						
Positive Affect (SPANE -P)	131	21.62	4.435	11-30	6-30	0.92
Negative Affect (SPANE-S)	131	15.95	4.389	6-28	6-30	0.86
Satisfaction with Life (SWLS)	131	24.52	7.366	6-35	5-35	0.93
Valid N (listwise)	131					

Note: n = number of participants; SD = Standard Deviation; α = Cronbach's alpha score; ECR-R = Experience of Close Relationship Scale; SBI = Savouring Beliefs Inventory; CSI = Couples Satisfaction Index; UCLA = UCLA Loneliness Scale; SPANE = Scale of Positive and Negative Experience; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale

3.2. Interrelationships between Attachment, Savouring and Outcome Variables

Table 3 details the Pearson's bivariate correlation results between attachment, savouring and outcome variables. Correlations show that the attachment variables have a moderate positive relationship with eachother. It also shows that these variables each have medium, negative correlations with savouring. In other words, higher anxious or avoidant attachment scores are associated with lower savouring.

3.2.1. Attachment, Relationship Satisfaction, Loneliness and Subjective Wellbeing

Consistent with hypothesis 1, significant negative correlations were seen between anxious and avoidant attachment and relationship satisfaction, positive affect, and satisfaction

with life. Loneliness and negative affect were positively correlated with anxious and avoidant attachment (Table 3).

3.2.2. Savouring, Relationship Satisfaction, Loneliness and Subjective Wellbeing

Confirming hypothesis 2 there were significant positive correlations between savouring and relationship satisfaction, positive affect and satisfaction with life. A significant negative correlation was seen between savouring and loneliness and savouring and negative affect (Table 3).

Table 3.

Pearson's bivariate correlations of study variables.

Measure	n	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1. ECR-R (Anx)	143								
2. ECR-R (Avd)	143	.558***							
3. CSI	143	610***	679***						
4. SBI	143	446***	478***	.443***					
5. UCLA	131	.637***	.461***	483***	575***				
6. SPANE (PA)	131	575***	440***	.498***	.591***	659***			
7. SPANE (NA)	131	.529***	.303***	392***	434***	.581***	769***		
8. SWLS	131	599***	491***	.606***	.532***	659***	.668***	579***	

^{***} p< 0.001 level (2-tailed)

Note: n = number of participants; ECR-R = Experience of Close Relationship Scale - (Anx = Anxiety subscale, Avd = Avoidant subscale); SBI = Savouring Beliefs Inventory; CSI = Couples Satisfaction Index; UCLA = UCLA Loneliness Scale; SPANE = Scale of Positive (PA) and Negative (NA) Experience; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale

3.3. Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression

Hierarchical regressions were used to test hypothesis 3 and results are shown in Tables 4, 5 and 6. Research has shown that both dimensions of attachment are significant predictors for these outcome variables, but that they can influence some variables differently.

Hence both attachment predictors were investigated independently and then together. The correlations matrix shows that for all outcome variables, except CSI, attachment-anxiety had stronger correlations than avoidant, so for the combined model, anxious was inserted in step one and avoidant in step two. As this study is looking at the change in variance between the total attachment variance and savouring, this order was not reversed for the CSI regression.

3.3.1. Predictor Variables - Attachment-Related Anxiety and Savouring

Confirming hypothesis 3a, regression analyses demonstrated that savouring contributes significant variance to each outcome variable after the variance contributed by attachment-anxiety is removed (Table 4).

Table 4.

Results of hierarchical regression with attachment-related anxiety and savouring as predictor variables.

		Outcome Variables				
		Relationsh	ip Satisfaction ¹	Lor	neliness²	
Pred	lictor	ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β	
Step 1	(Constant)	.372***		.405***		
·	Attachment-Anxiety		610 ^{***}		.637***	
Step 2	(Constant)	.036**		.116***		
·	Attachment-Anxiety		515***		.480***	
	Savouring		.213**		374***	
	Total R ²	.408***		.521***		
	n	143		131		

	Subjective Wellbeing Outcome Variables					
	Positive	e Affect²	Negativ	e Affect²	Satisfacti	on with Life²
Predictor	ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β
Step 1 <i>(Constant)</i> Attachment-Anxiet	.331*** y	575***	.280***	.529***	.358***	599***
Step 2 <i>(Constant)</i> Attachment-Anxiet Savouring	.149***	.397*** .425***	.055**	.421*** 258**	.096***	456*** .340***

Total R ²	.479***	.335***	.454***
n	131	131	131

Note: *p <.05 **p <.01 ***p <.001; 1 n=143, 2 n=131

For relationship satisfaction the regression model accounted for a significant 41% of the variance, with savouring accounting for a small, but significant 3.6% of additional variance ΔF (1,140) = 8.604, p < .01, $\Delta R^2 = .036$. Standardised beta values show that attachment-anxiety was the stronger predictor and that savouring had a small but significant association with relationship satisfaction, $\beta = .231 t(140) = -2.933$, p = < .01, $pr^2 = .06$.

The regression model for loneliness showed significant effect of attachment-anxiety and savouring, which together accounted for 52% of variance in loneliness, with savouring contributing 12% of the additional variance in the model ΔF (1,128) = 30.886, p < .001, $\Delta R^2 = .116$. Standardised betas show attachment-anxiety is only moderately stronger than savouring as a predictor of loneliness (Table 4). Savouring showed a significant association with loneliness, $\beta = -.374 t$ (128) = -5.56, p = <.001, $pr^2 = .194$, indicating that, the additional variance contributed by savouring, represents a significant 19% of the unaccounted variance in loneliness.

Regression models for the subjective wellbeing outcome variables show savouring contributes variance of 15% to the explained variance in positive affect, 6% to the variance in negative affect, and 10% to the variance in satisfaction with life. Standardised betas show savouring is the stronger predictor for positive affect, however, for negative affect and satisfaction with life variables, attachment-anxiety is stronger. After the variance of attachment-anxiety is accounted for, savouring has a significant association with all subjective wellbeing outcome variables, contributing to the unaccounted variance by 22% for positive affect, 7.6% of negative affect and 15% to satisfaction with life.

3.3.2. Predictor Variables - Avoidant Attachment and Savouring

Consistent with hypothesis 3b, analyses confirmed that savouring significantly contributed a unique amount of variance of each outcome variable once the variance of avoidant attachment was taken into account (Table 5).

Table 5

Results of hierarchical regression with avoidant attachment and savouring as predictor variables.

		Outcome Variables					
		Relationshi	p Satisfaction ¹	Loneliness ²			
Predictor		ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β		
Step 1	(Constant)	0.46***		0.213***			
•	Avoidant Attachment		-0.679***		0.46***		
Step 2	(Constant)	0.018^{*}		0.166***			
·	Avoidant Attachment		-0.605***		0.247**		
	Savouring		0.153*		-0.46***		
	Total R ²	0.479***		0.379***			
	n	143		131			

	Subjective Wellbeing Outcome Variables							
	Positive Affect ²		Negative Affect ²		Satisfaction with Life ²			
Predictor	ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β		
Step 1 (Constant)	.194***		.092***		.241***			
Avoidant Attachment		440***		.303***		491 ^{***}		
Step 2 (Constant)	.190***		.110***		.117***			
Avoidant Attachment		211 ^{**}		.129		311 ^{***}		
Savouring		.493***		374***		.387***		
Total R ²	.384***		.202***		.358***			
n	131		131		131			
Note: *p <.05 **p <.01	***p <.001;	¹ n=143, ² n=1	31					

For relationship satisfaction the overall regression model accounted for a significant 48% of the variance, with savouring adding a significant 2% of unique variance to the model $\Delta F(1,140) = 4.881$, p < .05, $\Delta R^2 = .018$. Standardised betas show avoidant attachment was the

stronger predictor, and that savouring had a small but significant association with relationship satisfaction, $\beta = .153 \ t(140) = -2.209, p = < .05, pr^2 = .033$

Savouring added a significant amount of influence on loneliness, accounting for 17 % of additional variance $\Delta F(1,128) = 34.192$, p < .001, $\Delta R^2 = .166$ after avoidant attachment was controlled for. Standardised beta values show that avoidant and savouring have equal strength in predicting loneliness. Savouring has a significant moderate negative association with loneliness, $\beta = -.460 \ t(140) = -5.85$, p = <.001, $pr^2 = .211$.

Analyses for subjective wellbeing outcome variables, found that savouring contributed unique amounts of variance of 19% to a total variance of 38% in positive affect, 11% of a total variance of 20% in negative affect and 12% to a total variance of 36% in satisfaction with life. Standardised beta values show that for positive and negative affect, savouring is a slightly stronger predictor than avoidant attachment, while for satisfaction with life, avoidant attachment is the stronger predictor.

3.3.3. Predictor Variables - Anxious and Avoidant Attachment, and Savouring

Hierarchical regression was used to examine whether savouring significantly contributed a unique amount of variance to each outcome variable, after the variance contributed to the variables by attachment-anxiety and avoidant attachment were partialled out. A summary of results for each outcome variable is provided in Table 6, and shows the change in variance with each step, the total variance accounted for overall model, and standardised beta values for each predictor variable.

The regression model for relationship satisfaction showed a significant effect of attachment-anxiety contributing 37% in step 1, and avoidant attachment contributing an additional 17% variance, in step 2, to relationship satisfaction respectively (Table 6). With the effect of anxious and avoidant attachment accounted for, savouring did not contribute a statistically significant amount of variance to the model (p= .235).

The overall regression model for loneliness, accounted for a significant 52% of variance, however only anxious attachment and savouring significantly contributed to this total variance, accounting for 40% and 10% respectively. Standardised beta values show that attachment-anxiety is a stronger predictor of loneliness than savouring. Savouring has a significant moderate negative association with loneliness, $\beta = -.367 t (128) = -5.17$, p = <.001, $pr^2 = -.417$.

The overall models for the subjective wellbeing outcome variables found that savouring contributed 13% t of the total 48% variance in positive affect, 6 % of a total variance of 34 % in negative affect and 7 % to a total variance of 46 % in satisfaction with life. Avoidant attachment had no significant effect on positive or negative affect but did contribute a significant additional influence of 3.4% to satisfaction with life. Standardised beta values show that for all subjective wellbeing variables, attachment-anxiety is the stronger predictor.

Anxious and avoidant attachment also had a smaller but significant effect on all variables, except avoidant attachment on negative affect. After the variance of anxious and avoidant attachment are partialled out, results show that savouring has a significant association with all subjective wellbeing outcome variables, with the increase of variance for each variable contributing to 20 % of the unaccounted variance in positive affect, 8 % of the unaccounted variance in negative affect, and 11% of the unaccounted variance of satisfaction with life.

Savouring did not have a significant effect on relationship satisfaction once the variance for both anxious and avoidant attachment were taken into account, which disconfirms part of hypothesis 3c. Savouring does have a significant effect on loneliness and subjective wellbeing variables after both anxious and avoidant attachment are partialled out, confirming hypothesis 3c for these 4 variables.

Table 6.

Results of hierarchical regression with attachment-related anxiety and avoidant attachment and savouring as predictor variables.

		Outcome (Dependent) Variables					
		Relationship	o Satisfaction ¹	Loneliness ²			
Predictor		ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β		
Step 1	(Constant)	0.372***		0.405***			
	Attachment-Anxiety		-0.61***		0.637***		
Step 2	(Constant)	0.166***		0.015			
	Attachment-Anxiety		-0.336 ^{***}		0.552***		
	Avoidant Attachment		-0.491***		0.15		
Step 2	(Constant)	0.005		0.101***			
	Attachment-Anxiety		-0.315 ^{***}		0.468***		
	Avoidant Attachment		-0.464 ^{***}		0.026		
	Savouring		0.08		-0.367***		
	Total R ²	0.543***		0.521***			
	n	143		131			

	Outcome (Dependent) Variables						
	Positive Affect ²		Negative Affect ²		Satisfaction with Life ²		
Predictor	ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β	ΔR^2	β	
Step 1 (Constant)	.331***		.28***		.358***		
Attachment-Anxiety		575 ^{***}		.529***		-0.599***	
Step 2 (Constant)	.02		0		.034**		
Attachment-Anxiety		479 ^{***}		.526***		-0.472***	
Avoidant Attachment		170 [*]		.007		-0.225**	
Step 2 (Constant)	0.129***		.06 **		.07***		
Attachment-Anxiety		384***		.461***		-0.402***	
Avoidant Attachment		030		089		-0.121	
Savouring		.416***		283***		0.307***	
Total R ²	.48***		.34**		.463***		
n	131		131		131		

Note: *p <.05 **p <.01 ***p <.001; 1 n=143, 2 n=131

Chapter 4: DISCUSSION

4.1. Overview

This study is one of the first quantitative examinations of individual differences in attachment and savouring for members of FIFO relationships. The project explored the relationship of these predictive factors on relational and subjective wellbeing and found moderate to strong relationship with all outcomes, supporting the theory that attachment is an important theoretical framework to use to interpret and relationship satisfaction and affect in FIFO couples (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2007).

Additionally, the study examined to what extent savouring influenced these factors once the impact of attachment was considered. The results suggest that savouring did not significantly contribute to relationship satisfaction but was found to influence loneliness and subjective wellbeing factors.

4.2. Attachment, Savouring and Relationship Satisfaction

Consistent with attachment and relational literature (Lee & Pistole, 2012), this study provides evidence that lower attachment-anxiety and avoidant attachment is associated with higher relationship satisfaction. Avoidant attachment was shown to have a stronger negative association with relationship satisfaction than attachment-anxiety. This is consistent with Vollmann et al. (2019), who suggested that partners with high level of avoidance may downplay the value of relationships, while those with an anxious attachment style could still value the positive aspects of their relationship.

Preliminary results suggest that savouring had a moderate association with relationship satisfaction. However, once the influence of anxious and avoidant attachment was controlled for, there was no significant interaction between savouring and relationship satisfaction. While these results are in contrast to previous research, which suggested

savouring is positively associated with relationships satisfaction, (Lenger & Gordon, 2019; Samios & Khatri, 2019) it is noted that the scope of those studies did not extend to consider the relationship within the context of attachment.

4.3. Attachment, Savouring and Loneliness

In line with current research, both attachment factors were found to be positively associated with loneliness, with attachment-anxiety shown to be a stronger predictor (Akdoğan, 2017). The strength of attachment-anxiety was further highlighted in analysis which controlled for attachment-anxiety, followed by the inclusion of avoidant attachment, which resulted in no additional influence on loneliness. These results may reflect the notion that anxiously attached may exaggerate the disparity between their desired level of connection and actual level of social interaction, thereby intensifying the feeling of loneliness, whereas avoidantly attached may downplay the need for connection and feelings of loneliness and instead socially withdraw (Akdoğan, 2017).

Savouring was found to be negatively associated with loneliness, in that people with a higher capacity to savour reported lower levels of loneliness. However, attachment-anxiety was still the stronger predictor compared to savouring. Once attachment factors were controlled for, savouring still provided a significant contribution of influence on loneliness. This is an important finding given there is limited evidence on the direct link between savouring and loneliness (Smith & Bryant, 2017). It is also relevant in the context of the FIFO population, as loneliness is often reported as key stressor, and identifying factors that could potentially buffer the impact of loneliness is important (Parker et al., 2018). While this study was underpowered to investigate potential moderator effects between attachment, savouring and loneliness, this would be a beneficial line of enquiry for future studies.

4.4. Attachment, Savouring and Subjective Wellbeing

4.4.1. Positive Affect

As hypothesised, anxious and avoidant attachment were both negatively associated with positive affect, with preliminary results suggesting attachment-anxiety has strong association and avoidant attachment a moderate association. However, once attachment-anxiety is partialled out, avoidant attachment did not provide any additional significant influence to positive affect. This is in line with previous research that shows, people with a high anxious attachment style approach daily interaction with high distress and low positive affect, whereas high avoidant attachment use deactivating strategies that decrease happiness and react with less joy and love to positive experiences (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2005; Sheinbaum et al., 2015)

As expected, savouring had a significant positive association with positive affect with higher savouring resulting in higher positive affect. This likely reflects the mechanism of savouring to upregulate positive emotions (Bryant & Veroff, 2007). While independently savouring is seen to have a strong association with positive affect, within the attachment framework this becomes a moderate relationship with attachment-anxiety the stronger predictor.

Taking attachment-anxiety into account, savouring contributed a significant amount of influence on positive affect. Given that attachment-anxiety has a negative association, and savouring has a positive association, investigating whether attachment may moderate the relationship between savouring attachment-anxiety and positive affect would be valuable. While this study was underpowered to investigate this further, these findings support work by Palmer and Gentzler (2018) who found that for those with high attachment-anxiety, positive affect was improved after savouring non-impersonal events. Given results for this FIFO cohort show savouring is a moderate predictor of positive affect, further research in this

direction looking at the different types of savouring, could inform potential intervention and support strategies to promote happiness and positive outcomes.

4.4.2. Negative Affect

Consistent with attachment literature attachment-anxiety was found to have a stronger positive association with negative affect than avoidant attachment (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2005). Further evidence of this was shown, once attachment-anxiety was controlled for, resulting in avoidant attachment providing no additional amount of influence. This reflects the findings by Mikulincer and Shaver (2007) who showed people with high avoidant attachment typically avoided amplification of negative affect by dampening or denying their negative feelings. Conversely people with a high anxious attachment style were sensitive to cues of negative affect, ruminating on potential threats and keeping negative feelings active in their mind (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2005).

Preliminary results suggest savouring has a negative association with negative affect and is a stronger predictor of negative affect than avoidant attachment. Controlling for both anxious and avoidant attachment, savouring predictor influence is reduced, but it does still contribute a small, but significant influence on negative affect. This result, while in line with previous findings, is not completely consistent with research that shows stronger savouring can reduce depressive symptoms (often linked to negative affect) and dampen negative affect (Hurley & Kwon, 2012).

Understanding the underlying factors of negative affect may be particularly important within the FIFO population as negative affect has been linked to depression and anxiety (Du Plessis & Guse, 2017), which studies have shown the FIFO population to be of increased risk (Parker et al., 2018). Borelli et al. (2014) highlights the importance of looking at negative outcomes in the context of attachment in long distance relationships. They demonstrated the vulnerability of highly avoidantly attached partners, particularly when isolated and without

support, to have reduced capacity to regulate negative affect in the face of overwhelming stressors (Borelli et al., 2014). Studies that look to potentially link high and low attachment, coping strategies and negative affect, could assist the development of education to promote adaptive coping strategies for the FIFO community, such as seeking support rather than withdrawing from support networks.

4.4.3. Satisfaction with Life (SWL)

In line with previous research, anxious and avoidant attachment had a negative relationship with satisfaction with life, indicating that higher attachment is associated with lower satisfaction with life (Waring et al., 2019). Controlling for attachment-anxiety, shows avoidant attachment does contribute a significant but small amount of additional influence, and indicates attachment-anxiety is the stronger predictor of satisfaction with life.

The results of this study suggest savouring has a positive relationship with satisfaction with life. Controlling for attachment, savouring contributes significant additional influence on satisfaction with life, and while attachment-anxiety is the strongest predictor, savouring is a stronger predictor than avoidant attachment. While research between the relationship of savouring, attachment and satisfaction with life is limited, these findings are consistent with extant research (Smith & Bryant, 2017).

4.5. Summary of Findings

This study has provided a preliminary look at the relationship between attachment, savouring and relational and subjective wellbeing factors for members of FIFO relationships. All but one of the hypotheses tested were confirmed, demonstrating that savouring is an important predictor for all of these variables except for relationship satisfaction. These results highlight the importance of researching these variables within an attachment framework, and the potential of savouring acting as an internal resource to promote positive affect, reduce negative affect and loneliness, and improve overall satisfaction with life and wellbeing.

With respect to members of FIFO couples, these findings contribute to the new research direction for this sector identified as necessary by government and industry bodies (Parker et al., 2018), to identify any links between environmental and demographic factors, and wellbeing outcomes.

4.6. Strengths and limitations

This study contributes to the emerging quantitative literature within the FIFO sector, and extends it beyond the FIFO worker. As one of the first studies, to the author's knowledge, to look at savouring within this population, it provides a new and unique understanding to the underlying individual psychological characteristics that relate to participants relational and subjective wellbeing. While the current study sample was not randomly selected, it did draw a diverse range of participants with respect to their residential location across Australia and from both onshore and offshore FIFO workforces.

Several limitations were identified for this study, which need to be considered when interpreting the current findings. The self-report nature of the questionnaire means that there is potential for participant's responses to have certain biases, such as social desirability bias, particularly as the data relates to sensitive personal relationship information. The sample may also incorporate an aspect of self-selection, that is, that participants who value the importance of relationships have chosen to participate, and so may have higher levels of relationship satisfaction, savouring and positive affect, which could impact on the correlations observed.

The cross-sectional nature of the study and the sample size limits conclusions being drawn with respect to establishing causation of effect between variables. While participants from different states and different FIFO backgrounds participated in the survey, the sample was not randomly selected, therefore results obtained cannot be interpreted to approximate the broader FIFO population. Studies with larger sample sizes or experimental research

design is needed to confirm these findings and better understand the factors that influence outcomes.

Furthermore, despite efforts to recruit a balance of workers and partners, only a small number of workers participated in the study, which prevented analyses between groups.

While the survey allowed for couples to connect surveys with their partner, few participants chose this option. By simplifying this option in the survey and using a unique anonymous identifier rather than email addresses, more participants may have elected to do this. By linking partners' surveys, analyses of dyadic interpersonal relationships between partners could have been investigated from both an attachment perspective and an interpersonal savouring perspective. A balance of workers and partners comparison analyses between the groups could allow for a better understanding of attachment and loneliness in relation to work- or home- bound partners.

4.7. Future Research

The focus of this study was to look specifically at psychological factors relating to FIFO relationships, however these factors do not occur in isolation. While further studies into psychological factors is needed to fill this gap in FIFO research, it is also important that future studies look to link these factors with environmental factors. Therefore, theoretically based, quantitative research that incorporates both psychological factors and work-related factors is important to develop a holistic view of the relationship between the FIFO work model and mental health and wellbeing (e.g. Cooke et al., 2018; Dittman et al., 2016).

The FIFO work model creates environmental changes not only for the worker, but also the homebound partner. It can create a situation where the homebound partner has to take on a much larger share of the home life responsibilities (Dittman et al., 2016), which, given under 4% of this study's participants were unemployed, often means this increased responsibility is in addition to their own work or carer workloads. Extending the findings of

this study, future investigations may look at the relationship between attachment, coping strategies (e.g. savouring) and relationship and wellbeing outcomes, in relation to these increased environmental pressures. A longitudinal study, investigating these relationships, throughout the FIFO roster cycle, could provide further insight into whether it is the change in environmental factors, or individual psychological factors that contribute the most influence on any related changes of wellbeing outcomes.

This study measured savouring by looking at an individual's capacity to savour. While this provided several findings of interest, it did not establish a significant link between savouring and relationship satisfaction. Experimental research relating to attachment, savouring and relationship satisfaction has started to focus on the specific area of relational savouring (Borelli et al., 2014). Relational savouring refers to savouring positive interpersonal, relational experiences. This research has had mixed results, with some evidence showing that attachment can impact on the benefits of savouring, dependant on whether the intervention was interpersonal and non-interpersonal savouring (Borelli et al., 2014). This avenue of research could qualify whether the lack of association found between attachment and savouring in this study was related to either, the type of savouring assessed, or attachment style, or potentially both factors. This line of enquiry could determine whether savouring, or relational savouring could act as an internal resource to promote relationship satisfaction.

Government studies into FIFO wellbeing have called for more theoretical based research to be conducted (Henry et al., 2013). While attachment theory is a key theoretical framework used to understand close relationships and individual outcomes, there are several other theoretical frameworks that have been applied to better understand long distance relationships, that could be applied to FIFO research. Two such theories include Sigman (1991) theory on relational continuity construction, and Fredrickson (2001) broaden and build theory.

Researching FIFO relationships through the lense of Sigman's (1991) theory of continuity, could provide insight into how partners define relationships as continuous beyond the moments of face-to-face interaction with each other, by employing relationship maintenance behaviours (Merolla, 2010). These behaviours relate back to the concept of proximity to attachment figures, closely connecting relationship behaviours as a way to develop mental representations of attachment figures and in turn provide the perception of proximity and sustained connection (Mikulincer et al., 2002).

The broaden and build theory (Fredrickson, 2001) has important implications with respect to savouring and positive outcomes, not only with respect to subjective wellbeing, but also relates to the development of enduring personal resources, relating to physical, intellectual and social outcomes. This theory could be applied to research relating not only to FIFO relationships but all members of the FIFO population.

4.8. Conclusion

The current study was the first to look at attachment and savouring within the context of FIFO relationships. Looking at these findings from a broader perspective, this work adds to the literature on long distance relationships, attachment, and savouring. Most importantly, it has identified that attachment is a relevant theoretical framework to utilise when investigating FIFO relationships. The study also provided support for the benefits of savouring for these workers and partners showing that higher savouring was related to lower levels of loneliness, enhance positive affect, and promoted satisfaction with life. This suggests that further investigation into the potential benefits of savouring, as an internal resource or coping mechanism, is warranted.

The next steps in the evolution of FIFO research are, to connect and understand the interaction of psychological factors with work-related factors, and to understand the underlying processes and coping mechanisms utilised to effectively adapt to FIFO stressors.

This will provide the relevant knowledge to explain which variables differentially influence the different components of relational and subjective wellbeing. In turn, the knowledge gained in this study, combined with current and future research, may inform employee assistance or induction programmes, or community support groups to develop strategies to help improve the wellbeing of all members of the FIFO community.

REFERENCES

- ABS. (2012). Australian National Health Survey: Fist results, 2017-2018 (4364055001DO001 20172018). A. B. o. Statistics.
- ABS. (2020). 6333.0 Characteristics of Employment, Australia, August 2020.
- Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1967). *Infancy in Uganda: Infant care and the growth of love*. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Akdoğan, R. (2017). A model proposal on the relationships between loneliness, insecure attachment, and inferiority feelings. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 111, 19-24. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.01.048
- Bailey-Kruger, A. (2012). The psychological wellbeing of women operating mining machinery in a fly-in fly-out capacity. (Publication Number 1682) Edith Cowan University]. Perth, WA.
- Baron, R., & Kenny, D. (1986). The Moderator-Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological Research: Conceptual, Strategic, and Statistical Considerations. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173-1182.

 http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=ovfta&NEWS=N&AN=00005205-198612000-00010.
- Bernardon, S., Babb, K., Hakim-Larson, J., & Gragg, M. (2011). Loneliness, Attachment, and the Perception and Use of Social Support in University Students. *Can J Behav Sci*, 43(1), 40-51. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021199
- Borelli, J. L., Sbarra, D. A., Randall, A. K., Snavely, J. E., McMakin, D. L., Coffey, J. K., & Chung, S. Y. (2014). With or without you: Attachment avoidance predicts non-deployed spouses' reactions to relationship challenges during deployment.

 *Professional Psychology: Research & Practice, 45, 478–487.

 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037780

- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss (2nd ed., Vol. 1). Basic Books.
- Bowlby, J. (1982). Attachment. Basic Books.
- Bryant, F. B. (2003). Savoring Beliefs Inventory (SBI): A scale for measuring beliefs about savouring. *Journal of Mental Health* 12(2), 21. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1080/0963823031000103489
- Bryant, F. B., & Veroff, J. (2007). Savoring: A new model of positive experience. Psychology Press.
- Clifford, S. A. (2009). The Effects of Fly-in/Fly-out Commute Arrangements and Extended

 Working Hours on the Stress, Lifestyle, Relationship and Health Characteristics of

 Western Australian Mining Employees and their Partners The University of Western

 Australia]. Perth, Australia.

 http://www.uwa.edu.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0003/405426/FIFO Report.pdf
- Cooke, D. C., Kendall, G., Li, J., & Dockery, M. (2018). Association between pregnant women's experience of stress and partners' fly-in-fly-out work. *Women and Birth*, 32(4), E450-E458. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2018.09.005
- Cronk, B. (2002). How to Use SPSS: A Step-By-Step Guide to Analysis and Interpretation.
- Dargie, E., Blair, K. L., Goldfinger, C., & Pukall, C. F. (2015). Go long! Predictors of positive relationship outcomes in long-distance dating relationships. *J Sex Marital Ther*, 41(2), 181-202. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623x.2013.864367
- Diamond, L. M. (2019). Physical separation in adult attachment relationships. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 25, 144-147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.06.007
- Diamond, L. M., Hicks, A. M., & Otter-Henderson, K. D. (2008). Every time you go away:

 Changes in Affect, Behaviour and Physiology Associated with Travel-Related

 Seperations From Romantic Partners. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*,

 95(2), 385-403. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.95.2.385

- Diener, E. (1985). Satisfaction With Life Scale. *PsycTESTS*. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/t01069-000
- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., & Griffin, S. (1985). The Satisfaction With Life Scale. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 49, 71-75.
- Diener, E., Wirtz, D., Tov, W., Kim-Prieto, C., Choi, D.-w., Oishi, S., & Biswas-Diener, R. (2009). Scale of Positive and Negative Experience. *PsycTESTS*. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/t03125-000
- Dittman, C. K., Henriquez, A., & Roxburgh, N. (2016). When a Non-resident Worker is a Non-resident Parent: Investigating the Family Impact of Fly-In, Fly-Out Work Practices in Australia. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 25(9), 2778-2796. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-016-0437-2
- Du Plessis, G. A., & Guse, T. (2017). Validation of the Scale of Positive and Negative

 Experience in a South African student sample. *South African Journal of Psychology*,

 47(2), 184-197. https://doi.org/10.1177/0081246316654328
- Faul, F. (1992). G*Power In (Version 3.1.9.6) [Power analysis]. Universitat Kiel.
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics* ((4th ed.) ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Fraley, R., Waller, N., & Brennan, K. (2000). An Item Response Theory Analysis of Self-Report Measures of Adult Attachment. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 78(2), 350-365. https://doi.org/
 http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=ovftd&NEWS=N&AN=00005205-200002000-00012.
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2001). The role of positive emotions in positive psychology. The broadenand-build theory of positive emotions. *The American psychologist*, *56*(3), 218-226. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.56.3.218

- Funk, J. L., & Rogge, R. D. (2007). Testing the Ruler With Item Response Theory: Increasing Precision of Measurement for Relationship Satisfaction With the Couples Satisfaction Index. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 21(4), 572-583. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.21.4.572
- Gardner, B., Alfrey, K.-L., Vandelanotte, C., & Rebar, A. (2018). Mental health and well-being concerns of fly-in fly-out workers and their partners in Australia: A qualitative study. *BMJ Open*, 8, e019516. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019516
- Goodall, K. (2015). Individual differences in the regulation of positive emotion: The role of attachment and self-esteem. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 74, 208-213. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.10.033
- Griffin, D., & Bartholomew, K. (1994). Models of the Self and Other: Fundamental Dimensions Underlying Measures of Adult Attachment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67(3), 430-445. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.67.3.430
- Hadden, B. W., Smith, C. V., & Webster, G. D. (2014). Relationship Duration Moderates

 Associations Between Attachment and Relationship Quality: Meta-Analytic Support

 for the Temporal Adult Romantic Attachment Model [Article]. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 18(1), 42-58. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868313501885
- Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. (1987). Romantic love conceptualized as an attachment process. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(3), 511.
- Heffernan, M. E., Fraley, R., Vicary, A. M., & Brumbaugh, C. C. (2012). Attachment features and functions in adult romantic relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 29(5), 671-693. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1177/0265407512443435
- Henry, P., Hamilton, K., Watson, S., & Macdonald, N. (2013). FIFO/DIDO mental health research report. Sellenger Centre for Research in Law, Justice and Social Change, . J.
 a. S. C. Sellenger Centre for Research in Law, Edith Cowan University.

- [Record #258 is using a reference type undefined in this output style.]
- Hurley, D. B., & Kwon, P. (2012). Results of a Study to Increase Savoring the Moment:

 Differential Impact on Positive and Negative Outcomes. *Journal of Happiness*Studies, 13(4), 579-588. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-011-9280-8
- Hurley, D. B., & Kwon, P. (2013). Savoring Helps Most When You Have Little: Interaction Between Savoring the Moment and Uplifts on Positive Affect and Satisfaction with Life. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *14*(4), 1261-1271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-012-9377-8
- James, C., Tynan, R., Roach, D., Leigh, L., Oldmeadow, C., Rahman, M., & Kelly, B. (2018).

 Correlates of psychological distress among workers in the mining industry in remote

 Australia: Evidence from a multi-site cross-sectional survey. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(12),

 e0209377. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0209377
- Jovanović, V. (2015). Beyond the PANAS: Incremental validity of the Scale of Positive and Negative Experience (SPANE) in relation to well-being. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 86, 487-491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.07.015
- Kirsch, P. A., J., H., Shi, M., Arend, S., Barclay, M. A., Everingham, J., & Kim, J. (2013, 11-15 August 2013). Preliminary findings on the health and well-being of the long distance commuting workforce in the Australian resources industry 23rd World Mining Congress, Montreal, Canada.
 https://espace.library.uq.edu.au/view/UQ:311932
- Knight, R. G., Chisholm, B. J., Marsh, N. V., & Godfrey, H. P. D. (1988). Some normative, reliability, and factor analytic data for the revised UCLA Loneliness scale [https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(198803)44:2
 ZO3::AID-JCLP2270440218>3.0.CO;2-5]. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 44(2), 203-206.

- https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(198803)44:2<203::AID-JCLP2270440218>3.0.CO;2-5
- Knoke, J., Burau, J., & Roehrle, B. (2010). Attachment Styles, Loneliness, Quality, and Stability of Marital Relationships. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 51(5), 310-325. https://doi.org/10.1080/10502551003652017
- Koohsar, A. A. H., & Bonab, B. G. (2011). Relation between quality of attachment and life satisfaction in high school administrators. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 30, 954-958. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.10.185
- Lee, J.-Y., & Pistole, M. C. (2012). Predictors of satisfaction in geographically close and long-distance relationships. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *59*(2), 303-313. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027563
- Lenger, K. A., & Gordon, C. L. (2019). To have and to savor: Examining the associations between savoring and relationship satisfaction. . *Couple and Family Psychology:**Research and Practice 8(1), 9. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/cfp0000111
- Lester, L., Watson, J., Waters, S., & Cross, D. (2016). The Association of Fly-in Fly-out

 Employment, Family Connectedness, Parental Presence and Adolescent Wellbeing.

 Journal of Child Family Stuies 25, 3619-3626. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-016-0512-8
- Meredith, V., Rush, P., & Robinson, E. (2014). Fly-in fly-out workforce practices in Australia: the effects on children and family relationships.
- Merolla, A. J. (2010). Relational maintenance and noncopresence reconsidered:

 Conceptualizing geographic separation in close relationships. *Communication Theory*,

 20(2), 169-193. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.2010.01359.x
- Mikulincer, M., Gillath, O., & Shaver, P. (2002). Activation of the Attachment System in Adulthood: Threat-Related Primes Increase the Accessibility of Mental

- Representations of Attachment Figures. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 83(4), 881-895.
- $\underline{\text{http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS\&PAGE=reference\&D=ovftf\&NEWS=N\&AN=00005205-200210000-00008}.$
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2003). The Attachment Behavioral System In Adulthood:

 Activation, Psychodynamics, And Interpersonal Processes. In *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology* (Vol. 35, pp. 53-152). Academic Press.

 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(03)01002-5
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2005). Attachment theory and emotions in close relationships: Exploring the attachment-related dynamics of emotional reactions to relational events. *Personal Relationships*, 12(2), 149-168.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1350-4126.2005.00108.x
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2007). Boosting attachment security to promote mental health, prosocial values and inter-group tolerance. *Psychological Inquiry*, *18*, 139-156. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/10478400701512646
- Nielsen, S. K. K., Lønfeldt, N., Wolitzky-Taylor, K. B., Hageman, I., Vangkilde, S., & Daniel, S. I. F. (2017). Adult attachment style and anxiety The mediating role of emotion regulation. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 218, 253-259. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.04.047
- Nunnally, J. C. (1978). Psychometric Theory 2nd edition. McGraw-Hill.
- Palmer, C. A., & Gentzler, A. L. (2018). Adults' self-reported attachment influences their savoring ability. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 13(3), 10. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2017.1279206
- Parker, S., Fruhen, L., Burton, C., McQuade, S., Loveny, J., Griffin, M., Page, A., Chikritzhs, T., Crock, S., Jorritsma, K., & Esmond, J. (2018). *Report for the WA Mental Health*

- Commission: Impact of FIFO work arrangements on the mental health and wellbeing of FIFO workers. G. o. W. M. H. Commission.
- Pavot, W., & Diener, E. (1993a). The affective and cognitive context of self-reported measures of subjective well-being. *Social Indicators Research*, 28(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01086714
- Pavot, W., & Diener, E. (1993b). Review of the Satisfaction With Life Scale. *Psychol Assess*, 5(2), 164-172. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.5.2.164
- Peetz, D., Murray, D., & Muurlink, O. (2012). The Impact on Working Arrangements on The

 Physical and Psychological Health of Workers and Their Partners. G. University.

 https://docs.employment.gov.au/sites/docs_employment/files/submissions/43726/peetz
 z david supp attachment 1.pdf
- Perlman, D., Peplau, L. A., & Peplau, L. (1984). Loneliness research: A survey of empirical findings. In (Eds.), (pp.). . In L. A. Peplau & S. Goldston (Eds.), *Preventing the harmful consequences of severe and persistent loneliness* (Vol. 10, pp. 13–46). U.S. Government Printing Office. https://doi.org/10.1145/1111130.1111132
- Philip, E. (2016). Resilience and Savouring in Older Adults in Relation to Subjective Well Being The University of Adelaide]. Adelaide, SA.
- Pietromonaco, P., & Collins, N. (2017). Interpersonal Mechanisms Linking Close
 Relationships to Health. *Am Psychol*, 72(6), 531-542.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000129
- Pistole, M. C. (2010). Long-Distance Romantic Couples: An Attachment Theoretical Perspective. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *36*(2), 115-125. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2009.00169.x
- Quoidbach, J., Berry, E. V., Hansenne, M., & Mikolajczak, M. (2010). Positive emotion regulation and well-being: Comparing the impact of eight savoring and dampening

- strategies. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 49(5), 368-373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2010.03.048
- Raffagnino, R., & Matera, C. (2015). Assessing Relationship Satisfaction: Development and Validation of the Dyadic-Familial Relationship Satisfaction Scale. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, *14*(4), 322-341.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691.2014.975305
- Roisman, G., Fraley, R., & Belsky, J. (2007). A taxometric study of the Adult Attachment Interview. *Developmental psychology*, 43, 675-686. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.3.675
- Russell, D., Peplau, L. A., & Cutrona, C. E. (1980). The Revised UCLA Loneliness Scale:

 Concurrent and Discriminant Validity Evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 39(3), 472-480.
- Russell, D. W. (1996). UCLA Loneliness Scale (Version 3): Reliability, Validity, and Factor Structure. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 66(1), 20-40. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa6601_2
- Samios, C., & Khatri, V. (2019). When Times Get Tough: Savoring and Relationship

 Satisfaction in Couples Coping with a Stressful Life Event. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping*,

 32(2), 125-140. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2019.1570804
- Sheinbaum, T., Kwapil, T. R., Ballespã-, S., Mitjavila, M., Chun, C. A., Silvia, P. J., & Barrantes-Vidal, N. (2015). Attachment style predicts affect, cognitive appraisals, and social functioning in daily life. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00296
- Shrimpton, M., & Storey, K. (2021). The Effects of Offshore Employment in the Petroleum Industry: a Cross-National Perspective.

- Sibley, C. G., Fischer, R., & Liu, J. H. (2005). Reliability and Validity of the Revised

 Experiences in Close Relationships (ECR-R) Self-Report Measure of Adult Romantic

 Attachment. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 31(11), 1524-1536.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167205276865
- Sigman, S. J. (1991). Handling the Discontinuous Aspects of Continuous Social

 Relationships: Toward Research on the Persistence of Social Forms. *Communication Theory*, 1(2), 106-127. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.1991.tb00008.x
- Smith, J. L., Bihary, J. G., O'Connor, D., Basic, A., & O'Brien, C. J. (2019). Impact of Savoring Ability on the Relationship Between Older Adults' Activity Engagement and Well-Being. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 39(3), 323-331.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464819871876
- Smith, J. L., & Bryant, F. B. (2016). The Benefits of Savoring Life: Savoring as a Moderator of the Relationship Between Health and Life Satisfaction in Older Adults. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 84(1), 3-23. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091415016669146
- Smith, J. L., & Bryant, F. B. (2017). Savoring and Well-Being: Mapping the Cognitive-Emotional Terrain of the Happy Mind. In M. D. Robinson & M. Eid (Eds.), *The Happy Mind: Cognitive Contributions to Wellbeing*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58763-9
- Smith, J. L., & Hollinger-Smith, L. (2015). Savoring, resilience, and psychological well-being in older adults. *Aging & Mental Health*, 19(3), 8. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2014.986647
- Torkington, A. M., Larkins, S., & Gupta, T. S. (2011). The psychosocial impacts of fly-in fly-out and drive-in drive-out mining on mining employees: A qualitative study [https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1584.2011.01205.x]. *Australian Journal of Rural*

- Health, 19(3), 135-141. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1584.2011.01205.x
- Torquati, J. C., & Raffaelli, M. (2004). Daily Experiences of Emotions and Social Contexts of Securely and Insecurely Attached Young Adults. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 19, 740 758.
- Tuck, J., Temple, E. C., & Sipek, M. (2013, 30 June 3 July 2013). Wellbeing of fly-in/flyout and drive-in/drive-out employees: Evidence from Australia 6th International
 Conference on Sustainable Development in the 95 Minerals Industry, Milos island,
 Greece.
- Vollmann, M., Sprang, S., & van den Brink, F. (2019). Adult attachment and relationship satisfaction: The mediating role of gratitude toward the partner. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 36(11-12), 3875-3886.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407519841712
- Voysey, W. (2012). Satisfaction with a fly-in/fly-out (FIFO) lifestyle: Is it related to rosters, children and support resources utilised by Australian employees and partners and does it impact on relationship quality and stress? [Honours, Murdoch University].

 https://researchrepository.murdoch.edu.au/id/eprint/11449/
- Waring, A., Kernes, J. L., & Bui, N. H. (2019). The Role of Attachment Anxiety, Attachment Avoidance, and Grit on Life Satisfaction and Relationship Satisfaction. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 0022167819844692. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022167819844692
- Wilson, K. A. I., Ferguson, S. A., Rebar, A., Alfrey, K., & Vincent, G. E. (2020). Comparing the Effects of FIFO/DIDO Workers Being Home versus Away on Sleep and Loneliness for Partners of Australian Mining Workers. *Clocks and Sleep*, 2, 86-98. https://doi.org/10.3390/clockssleep2010009

APPENDIX 1